
Managing Wisconsin’s trust assets for public education 

Sarah Godlewski, Secretary of State 
John Leiber, State Treasurer 
Joshua L. Kaul, Attorney General 

101 E. Wilson Street 
2nd Floor 
PO Box 8943 
Madison, WI  53708-8943 

(608) 266-1370 INFORMATION
(608) 266-0034 LOANS 
(608) 267-2787 FAX 
bcpl.wisconsin.gov 

Thomas P. German, Executive Secretary 

AGENDA 
June 3, 2025 

2:00 P.M. 
Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 

101 E. Wilson Street, 2nd Floor 
Madison, Wisconsin 

Routine Business: 

1. Call to Order

2. Approve Minutes – May 20, 2025 (Attachment)

3. Approve Loans

Old Business: 

4. None

New Business: 

5. Proposed Changes to BCPL Investment Policy Statement – Target Asset Allocations

Routine Business: 

6. Chief Investment Officer’s Report

7. Executive Secretary’s Report

8. Board Chair’s Report

9. Future Agenda Items

10. Adjourn

AUDIO ACCESS INFORMATION 
------------------------- 

Conference Line Number: 608-571-2209 
1st Tues of the month Conf ID Code:  207 822 241# 
3rd Tues of the month Conf ID Code: 335 125 302# 

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 1 of 10



State of Wisconsin        Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 

Board Meeting Minutes 
May 20, 2025 

Present were: 

Sarah Godlewski, Board Chair   Secretary of State 
John Leiber, Commissioner State Treasurer 
Josh Kaul, Commissioner  Attorney General 
Nicole Pegram, Deputy Chief of Staff Secretary of State 
Tom German, Executive Secretary Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 
Rich Sneider, Chief Investment Officer Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 
Chuck Failing, IT Manager Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 
Denise Nechvatal, Controller  Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 
Thuy Nguyen, Office Manager  Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 

ITEM 1. CALL TO ORDER 

Board Chair Godlewski called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. 

ITEM 2. APPROVE MINUTES  

MOTION: Commissioner Kaul moved to approve the minutes; Commissioner Leiber seconded the motion. 

DISCUSSION: None  

VOTE: The motion passed 3-0. 

ITEM 3. APPROVE LOANS  

MOTION: Board Chair Godlewski moved to approve the loans; Commissioner Kaul seconded the motion. 

DISCUSSION: Mr. Sneider shared there are three ‘bread-and-butter’ loans: loans #2, #3 and #5. Last year the Town 
of La Pointe bought the ferry line that goes between Madeline Island and Bayfield. The town is now taking out loan #1 
to do some harbor improvements for the ferry line on Madeline Island. Loan #4 is to the Lac La Belle Lake 
Management District to finance reconstruction of their boat launch.  

VOTE: The motion to approve the loans passed 3-0. 

The Board of Commissioners of Public Lands (BCPL) unanimously approved $4,729,000.00 in State Trust Fund 
Loans to support 5 community projects in Wisconsin.  

1. Town of La Pointe / Ashland County / Finance harbor improvements / $800,000.00
2. Village of Walworth / Walworth County / Finance purchase of ambulance equipment / $63,000.00
3. Village of Walworth / Walworth County / Finance roadwork / $171,000.00
4. Lac La Belle Lake Management District / Waukesha County / Finance reconstruction of boat launch /

$200,000.00
5. Town of Lawrence / Brown County / Finance roadwork / $3,495,000.00

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 2 of 10



Commissioner Leiber asked what the town is doing to the harbor. He and his wife may travel to Bayfield. 

Mr. Sneider is uncertain about what improvements will be done but there will likely be improvements to the pier/dock 
where the ferry comes in.  

ITEM 4. OLD BUSINESS  

None 

ITEM 5. NEW BUSINESS 

None 

ITEM 6. CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER’S REPORT  

None 

ITEM 7. EXECUTIVE SECRETARY’S REPORT 

Executive Secretary German reported that there are several members of Joint Finance that have shown an interest in 
providing BCPL with the additional resources we requested and returning the agency to program revenue 
appropriation funding.  

Last week the Legislative Council issued a memo on that topic. The memo provided that the legislature had provided 
BCPL with a program revenue appropriation for 40 years in the past, but doing so was likely prohibited. The memo 
also noted that there are some remaining statutes that declare that BCPL may deduct expenses of trust management 
from gross revenues. The memo further noted that there have been no budget appropriations using those statutes for 
the last couple of years. However, it was left unsaid that those remaining statutes provide BCPL with the ability to 
invest in a lot of different private investment funds because many of such funds pay investors such as BCPL net 
earnings not gross earnings. (The fund and management expenses are deducted from the gross earnings before BCPL 
receives a distribution.) The elimination of those statutes were part of a previous budget bill but the governor vetoed 
those statutory changes so the statutes have remained in place. Without those statutes it may be questionable for BCPL 
to invest in such private investment funds. While no one is currently advocating for the elimination of those statutes, 
the Leg Council memo raised some red flags for Secretary German. It appeared to him that Leg Council did not 
understand why those statutes remained, the historical aspects of the case law cited in the Leg Council memo and the 
context of how all these pieces fit together.  

Executive Secretary German wrote an 8-page memo which he believes provides a coherent story of how we got to this 
point with the agency’s funding, why a move back to program revenue funding is consistent with the State 
Constitution and how the Legislature’s authority to determine BCPL’s investment options fits into the analysis. 
Secretary German shared his memo with the attorney for Leg Council. She appreciated the additional analysis as she 
didn’t have as much time to delve into the background. She also noted that she was not aware of any concerns raised 
by any educational beneficiaries over the course of the 40 years that the program revenue appropriation had been in 
effect. The attorney shared that while unusual, Leg Council will sometimes change their position when new 
information or legal authority is brought to light. We are currently waiting to hear back from Leg Council.  

Board Chair Godlewski asked that Executive Secretary German share with the commissioners the memo he wrote. 

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 3 of 10



Executive Secretary German said he would be happy to do that.  

Board Chair Godlewski asked if Leg Council provided a timeline of when they would make their decision. 

Executive Secretary German replied, no, they did not. The new memo from Leg Council was written by a senior 
attorney but seemed to utilize research reflected in an earlier 2019 Leg Council memo which was written by junior 
attorneys that are no longer with Leg Council. In 2019 that earlier memo asserted that BCPL must go back on general 
program revenue (GPR). The tone of this recent memo is that BCPL should probably be funded with GPR. He believes 
he was able to provide a clear backstory and raise the argument that the court opinion they cite in their analysis doesn’t 
mean what they think it means.  

The case that Leg Council relied upon was very unusual. It started over 100 years ago, when the commissioners had a 
long list of things they needed guidance on. The Secretary of State and the Attorney General decided to sue each other 
and bring the case directly to the Supreme Court for guidance. In the end the Supreme Court provided answers on a 
number of topics but discovered there were factual issues related to accounting for certain transactions that had 
occurred in prior years. These factual determinations would normally have been handled by a trial judge but there was 
no trial judge in this case.  

The Supreme Court then decided to appoint a special referee to find out the facts and provide an accounting for which 
lands and monies were supposed to go into which fund accounts. In the referee’s special report, he acknowledged that 
he was unclear how to account for the expenses. Since the state had previously covered all the expenses and no laws 
had been passed that stated otherwise, he assumed the state would continue to cover all the expenses. If the state did 
not pay for all the expenses, he believed trust law would be applied and the expenses would be billed pro rata to the 
separate trust funds.  

The special referee’s report on such accounting was then presented to the commissioners and the Supreme Court for 
acceptance. The Commissioners and the Court (in a new case and opinion) accepted the report. But there was no future 
guidance in the report or the court decision. This “new” court opinion was essentially issued to accept the fact findings 
of the special referee. It was not issued to provide any opinion for the future. 

In 2019 the Leg Council attorneys cited this Supreme Court decision and jumped to the conclusion that BCPL must 
always be funded with GPR. This is not what the Supreme Court said. By the time the question arose in 2019, the state 
had funded BCPL expenses with program revenue for 40 years based upon an analysis by an assistant attorney general. 
The legislature passed the budget bills and accompanying statutes and the governor had signed them. Therefore, some 
of the main facts that supported the special referee’s assumptions 100 years ago were no longer true. Relying on a 
backwards-looking accounting case from over 100 years ago is not appropriate to determine a course of action for the 
future today.  

On a final note, Executive Secretary German shared that when he got to BCPL many years ago, his opinion was the 
roughly the same as the attorney for Leg Council. However, over the years, as he’s read more carefully and 
thoroughly, he realized that he had misinterpreted the cases from 100 years ago and his viewpoint has evolved to the 
point where he has now reached the opposite opinion.  

ITEM 8. BOARD CHAIR’S REPORT 

None 

ITEM 9. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

None  

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 4 of 10



Thomas P. German, Executive Secretary 

ITEM 10. ADJOURN 

Board Chair Godlewski moved to adjourn the meeting; Commissioner Kaul seconded the motion. 
The motion passed 3-0; the meeting adjourned at 2:14 p.m. 

Link to audio recording:  
https://bcpl.wisconsin.gov/bcpl.wisconsin.gov Shared Documents/Board Meeting Docs/2025/2025-05-20 
BoardMtgRecording.mp3 

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 5 of 10

https://bcpl.wisconsin.gov/bcpl.wisconsin.gov%20Shared%20Documents/Board%20Meeting%20Docs/2025/2025-05-20%20BoardMtgRecording.mp3
https://bcpl.wisconsin.gov/bcpl.wisconsin.gov%20Shared%20Documents/Board%20Meeting%20Docs/2025/2025-05-20%20BoardMtgRecording.mp3


State of Wisconsin  

BOARD MEETING
JUNE  3, 2025

AGENDA ITEM 3 
APPROVE LOANS

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands

Municipality Municipal Type Loan AmountLoan Type

Town $125,000.00Remington1. General Obligation

Rate: 6.00%Wood County
Term: 15 yearsApplication #: 02025113

Purpose: Finance addition to fire department building

Town $415,000.00Pleasant Springs2. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Dane County
Term: 2 yearsApplication #: 02025114

Purpose: Finance roadwork

Village $370,753.00Shiocton3. General Obligation

Rate: 6.00%Outagamie County
Term: 10 yearsApplication #: 02025115

Purpose: Finance maintenance and purchase of capital equipment

Town $763,015.00Center4. General Obligation

Rate: 6.00%Outagamie County
Term: 10 yearsApplication #: 02025116

Purpose: Finance purchase of fire truck

Town $150,000.00Center5. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Outagamie County
Term: 3 yearsApplication #: 02025117

Purpose: Finance purchase of tractor

City $350,000.00Tomahawk6. General Obligation

Rate: 6.00%Lincoln County
Term: 10 yearsApplication #: 02025118

Purpose: Finance water main relay

City $700,000.00Shullsburg7. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Lafayette County
Term: 5 yearsApplication #: 02025119

Purpose: Finance pass-through loan to Housing Authority

Village $820,000.00Yorkville8. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Racine County
Term: 5 yearsApplication #: 02025120

Purpose: Finance land purchase for fire station

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2\2025 Page 6 of 10



Board of Commissioners of Public Lands
Board Meeting - June  3, 2025
Agenda Item 3 - Approve Loans
Page 2

Municipality Municipal Type Loan AmountLoan Type

Town $5,136,398.00Gibraltar9. General Obligation

Rate: 6.00%Door County
Term: 15 yearsApplication #: 02025121

Purpose: Finance broadband services and infrastructure

Town $1,200,000.00Lucas10. General Obligation

Rate: 6.00%Dunn County
Term: 10 yearsApplication #: 02025122

Purpose: Finance roadwork

Town $2,000,000.00Grover11. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Marinette County
Term: 3 yearsApplication #: 02025123

Purpose: Finance roadwork

Town $227,025.89Lafayette12. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Walworth County
Term: 3 yearsApplication #: 02025124

Purpose: Finance purchase of fire truck

Village $900,000.00Whiting13. General Obligation

Rate: 6.50%Portage County
Term: 20 yearsApplication #: 02025125

Purpose: infrastructure projects

Town $370,000.00Russell14. General Obligation

Rate: 6.50%Sheboygan County
Term: 20 yearsApplication #: 02025126

Purpose: Finance new town hall

Town $684,740.00Eaton15. General Obligation

Rate: 5.50%Manitowoc County
Term: 2 yearsApplication #: 02025127

Purpose: Finance road construction

$14,211,931.89TOTAL

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 7 of 10



State of Wisconsin Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 

BOARD MEETING 
June 3, 2025 

AGENDA ITEM #5 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO BCPL INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

RECITALS 

A. The Board of Commissioners of Public Lands initially adopted an Investment Policy
Statement (“IPS”) on November 1, 2016 which governed the investment of the school trust
fund assets managed by BCPL.  The IPS includes target asset allocations for the investments
within each trust fund managed by BCPL.

B. The IPS requires BCPL to regularly review the IPS and adopt changes appropriate to the
current circumstances and market conditions.

C. The most recent change to the IPS and Target Asset Allocations was approved on October 4,
2022.

D. The time has come to again review the asset allocations for the respective trust funds.
BCPL staff and the BCPL investment committee are proposing changes to the asset
allocation models for the Common School Fund (CSF) and Normal School Fund (NSF) as
detailed on the attachments.

E. The proposed changes to the CSF allocations were refined with the assistance of the
BlackRock quantitative analysis team and are designed to increase the total return and long-
term capital gains expected from the CSF portfolio.  The Investment Committee believes
that increasing these performance metrics will allow greater distributions to beneficiaries
over the long-term investment horizon of the fund.

F. The proposed changes to the NSF allocations are designed to diversify and de-risk the
portfolio while maintaining the expected return and distribution profiles of the fund.

G. The Investment Committee is recommending that the Board approve the changes to the
asset allocation models for the Common School Fund and Normal School Fund as detailed
on the attachments.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of Public
Lands approves the proposed changes to the Investment Policy Statement and respective
asset allocations as set forth on the attachments.  Such changes shall become effective on this
date.

Attachments: 
Common School Fund Target Asset Allocations 
Normal School Fund Target Asset Allocations 

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 8 of 10



Common School Fund Target Asset Allocations 

Asset Class Target Allocation (old) Target Allocation (new) Range (old) Range (new) 

Public Debt 

State/State Agency/Municipal Bonds 5% 0% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
U.S. Treasury/Agency Bonds 0% 3% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected 

  
0% 4% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 

Corporate Bonds 5% 3% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
Private Debt 

BCPL State Trust Fund Loans 25% 20% 10% to 30% 10% to 30% 
Other Private Debt 15% 20% 10% to 30% 10% to 30% 

Total Fixed Income 50% 50% 

Public Equities 
Preferred Stocks 5.0% 0% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 
Common Stocks 15.0% 16% 5% to 20% 5% to 20% 

Alternatives 
Private Real Estate 20% 18% 10% to 30% 10% to 30% 
Infrastructure 4% 6% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 
Private Equity/Venture Capital 4% 8% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 

Total Equities and Alternatives 48% 48% 

Cash 2% 2% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 

Changes shown in RED 

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 9 of 10



Normal School Fund Target Asset Allocations 

Asset Class Target Allocation (old) Target Allocation (new) Range (old) Range (new) 

Public Debt 
State/State Agency/Municipal Bonds 0% 0% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
U.S. Treasury/Agency Bonds 0% 0% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected 

  
0% 5% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 

Corporate Bonds 0% 5% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
Private Debt 

BCPL State Trust Fund Loans 0% 0% 0% to 20% 0% to 20% 
Other Private Debt 35% 35% 10% to 50% 10% to 50% 

Total Fixed Income 35% 35% 

Public Equities 
Preferred Stocks 5% 0% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 
Common Stocks 20% 20% 5% to 20% 5% to 20% 

Alternatives 
Private Real Estate 40% 25% 10% to 50% 10% to 50% 
Infrastructure 0% 10% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 
Private Equity/Venture Capital 0% 0% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 

Total Equities and Alternatives 65% 65% 

Cash 0% 0% 0% to 10% 0% to 10% 

Changes shown in RED 

Board of Commissioners of Public Lands 06/03/2025 Page 10 of 10


	Board Resolution - Proposed Changes to Target Asset Allocations.pdf
	State of Wisconsin Board of Commissioners of Public Lands
	BOARD MEETING
	June 3, 2025






